Mississippi State University

Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

5-4-2018

Just Do It: Sport Apparel Branding on Twitter

Kelsey Slater

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

Recommended Citation

Slater, Kelsey, "Just Do It: Sport Apparel Branding on Twitter" (2018). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2894. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/2894

This Graduate Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.

Just do it: Sport apparel branding on Twitter

Ву

Kelsey Slater

A Thesis
Submitted to the Faculty of
Mississippi State University
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of Master of Science
in Kinesiology (Sport Administration)
in the College of Education

Mississippi State, Mississippi

May 2018

Copyright by

Kelsey Slater

2018

Just do it: Sport apparel branding on Twitter

Ву

Kelsey Slater

Approved:

Matthew H. Zimmerman (Major Professor)

Younghan Lee (Committee Member)

Gregg Twietmeyer (Committee Member)

Adam C. Knight (Graduate Coordinator)

Richard L. Blackbourn
Dean
College of Education

Name: Kelsey Slater

Date of Degree: May 3, 2018

Institution: Mississippi State University

Major Field: Kinesiology (Sport Administration)

Major Professor: Matthew H. Zimmerman

Title of Study: Just do it: Sport apparel branding on Twitter

Pages in Study 58

Candidate for Degree of Master of Science

Collegiate athletic departments are experiencing large financial growth in part to their relationships with sport apparel brands. The big three apparel companies of Nike, adidas, and Under Armour control all athletic department apparel contracts within the Power 5 conferences. This study examined what benefits apparel companies receive from their connection to collegiate basketball teams by analyzing the frequency and use of the brand name and brand hashtag on Twitter by fans of fifteen collegiate sport organizations. Through the lens of the social capital theory, the researcher found a limited connection between the sport apparel brands and the individual basketball teams. The finding suggested that sport apparel brands need to develop a new social media strategy in order to better connect with the collegiate basketball fans in an online environment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Zimmerman, the chair of my committee for all of his support and guidance during this entire process, his door was always open when I had a question, problem, or just needed to vent when I felt overwhelmed. I would also like to thank Dr. Lee and Dr. Twietmeyer for serving on my committee and acting as valuable academic mentors in my two years as a master's student. I am also grateful to my fellow Master's students, Leslie Chang, Kenny Diaz and Ty Singletary who not only kept me sane, but also made the past two years a great adventure. Finally, I have to thank my parents who always pushed me to succeed academically and I would not be the person I am today without their support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	IOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
LIST C	OF TABLES	iv
CHAP'	TER	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
	Twitter and Sport	
	Hashtag Use	
	Social Capital	
	Brand Relationships on Twitter	
	Research Questions	15
III.	METHODOLOGY	16
	Units of Analysis	16
	Data Gathering	
	Statistical Analysis	
	Pilot Study	
IV.	RESULTS	24
	Use of Brand Hashtags	24
	Content of Branded Tweets	
V.	DISCUSSION	34
	Brand Mentions on Twitter	34
	Hashtag Use	
	Negative Sentiments on Twitter	
	What are the Brands Paying for?	
	Limitations and Directions for Future Research	
REFER	RENCES	47

LIST OF TABLES

1	List of Queries and Number of Collected Tweets	22
2	Content Analysis of Tweets by Query	23
3	Total Collected Tweets by Handle or Hashtag	24
4	Total Collected Tweets including Brand Name or Brand Hashtag	25
5	Percentage of tweets including brand hashtag or brand name by school	25
6	Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding Nike Universities	31
7	Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding adidas Universities	31
8	Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding Under Armour Universities	32

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

College athletic departments are making more money than ever before thanks to factors including television contracts, donations from boosters and endorsement deals which include apparel contracts (Hobson & Rich, 2015). Of the three biggest sport apparel companies in the United States (i.e., Nike, adidas, and Under Armour), Nike has 44 of the 65 apparel contracts with universities in the Power Five conferences, including three of the largest contracts: Ohio State which has a 15-year contract worth \$16.8 million per year, Texas (15 years, \$16.67 million per year) and Michigan (11 years, \$15.73 per year). However, Under Armour has the largest contract in collegiate athletics, a 15-year agreement with UCLA worth \$18.67 a year (Schwerman, 2017). Under Armour paid a premium price for the UCLA contract in order to break into the West Coast market, which is an important factor for apparel companies when they reach agreements with universities (Wharton, 2016). These apparel companies spend tens of millions of dollars on college athletics for multiple reasons including merchandising and marketing opportunities. This includes exposure on television and social media especially during nationally broadcast football and basketball games during which millions of people have the opportunity to see their brand (Butler-Young, 2016). In addition, the increased use of social media has given brands the opportunity to forge more direct relationships with their customers (Holt, 2016).

While athletes, sport organizations and brands choose to use many different forms of social media, Twitter has become the dominant platform for use in sports (Kassing & Sanderson, 2010; Pegoraro, 2010; Sanderson, 2011). In addition, scholars have examined the relationship between brands and consumers on social media (Eun, Sook & Yongjun, 2011; Kim, Sung & Kang, 2014; Liu, Burns & Hou, 2017). Do, Ko, and Woodside (2015) specifically examined the apparel brand Nike to analyze the effect of brandrelated sport sponsorship via social media on the quality of the brand-consumer relationship. They found that the brand can improve its image through sport sponsorship on social media by directly engaging with consumers in order to increase consumer involvement with the brand's products (Do et al., 2015). With sport apparel brands spending large amounts of money to associate with college athletic departments, those brands are thus also purchasing the ability to build a relationship with the fans of the college sports team (Butler-Young, 2016). Different brands communicate different messages and values on Twitter, and researchers have suggested examining how fans of the brands utilize Twitter (Lee & Kahle, 2016).

An important aspect of Twitter use is the hashtag, which is a way for Twitter users to tag content and gain membership into an online community (Yang, Sun, Zhang & Mei, 2012). Hashtags are important for brands, and when they are successful they can be pivotal for the brand recognition for the company (Hennessey, 2016). Nike has successfully used the hashtag, #justdoit, and many Twitter users mention the hashtag when they tweet photos of their workout exploits while wearing Nike shoes and apparel (Hennessey, 2016). Scholars have examined hashtag use during major sporting events such as the Olympic Games, collegiate national championships, the World Series and the

French Open (Blaszka, Burch, Frederick, Clavio & Walsh, 2012; Delia & Armstrong, 2015; Hambrick & Pegoraro, 2014; Smith & Smith, 2012). Delia and Armstrong (2015) examined Twitter use to discuss sponsors of the French open and discovered that the sponsors were mentioned in less than 1% of tweets that mentioned the hashtag #FrenchOpen. Based on that result, it is important to examine further whether the sponsorship of an event or sports team can lead to increase mentions or discussion on social media.

Nike, adidas, and Under Armour spend tens of millions of dollars every year to be associated with university athletic departments (Schwerman, 2017). Through that financial commitment, the sport apparel brands are attempting to connect to the university community including the fans of the collegiate basketball programs. This research is looking to answer whether fans of the sport brands are using the brand's hashtag when posting about the affiliated collegiate basketball program on Twitter. For the purpose of this study, the use of social media represents fan interest. Scholars have used Twitter Followers or Facebook Likes to indicate consumer interest in an athlete or sport product (Jensen, Ervin, and Dittmore, 2014; Perez, 2013; Watanabe, Yan, and Soebbing, 2015). In addition, scholars found that athletes who used Twitter to engage with followers, the online conversation simulated a real social relationship (Frederick, Lim, Clavio, & Walsh, 2012). Therefore, it is appropriate for the current study to use Twitter to indicate consumer interest because when users choose to follow or like a page they are demonstrating that they are looking for more information about the sport product. In addition, this research will examine whether the online conversations vary based on different brands. This study will expand on the research of Lee and Kahle

(2016) who performed a content analysis of the four largest sport apparel brands to determine the values and emotions that the brands express on Twitter. The scholars determined that the brands expressed different messages on Twitter, and this research will evaluate if the fans follow that pattern when tweeting about the different brands.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The purpose of this review of literature is to examine the networks of Twitter users and sport apparel brands through the lens of social capital. Additionally, this review will discuss the growth and use of Twitter as a social media platform in the sports field. This review will explore the use of hashtags on Twitter and in regard to sports teams and events. In addition, this review will examine social capital in its role in the sports field and how social capital is developed online. Lastly, this review will analyze how brand relationships are formed on Twitter including how the brands interact with fans.

Twitter and Sport

Social media including Twitter developed as part of Web 2.0 (DiNucci, 1999). Web 1.0 was based on the website creator adding content with the desired outcome of people visiting the site and simply reading the posted content (Pegoraro, 2010). Web 2.0 focused on a user-based interface in which individuals create and share content. The phrase Web 2.0 was coined by DiNucci (1999) who said, "The web will be understood not as screenfuls of text and graphics but as a transport mechanism, the ether through which interactivity happens" (p. 32). The evolution from Web 1.0 to Web 2.0 occurred concurrently with the rise of social media as the new platforms facilitated a new type of

human connection that was not found in other web-based media (Ovadia, 2009). Twitter is one of those platforms, and currently has 330 million users (Statista, 2018).

Athletes and sports teams are drawn to social media because they can easily foster connections with their fans (Hambrick, Simmons, Greenhalgh, & Greenwell, 2010; Kassing & Sanderson, 2010; Pegoraro, 2010; Sanderson, 2011). Fans enjoy using social media, Twitter in particular, because it provides the perception that they possess a direct line to celebrities and athletes (Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Hambrick et al., 2010; Lebel & Danylchuk 2012; Pegoraro, 2010; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012;). This direct line of contact is created when a Twitter user signs up for a free account and then chooses specific individuals to "follow." By following a specific Twitter user, one can access their posts, known as "tweets," and can respond or interact accordingly through retweeting, liking, or replying to individual tweets (Ovadia, 2009; Pegoraro, 2010). As described by Clavio (2011), previous literature focused on two main areas including content-based research and audience-based research.

Content-based studies focused on the information that is produced by the teams, athletes and sports media (Clavio, 2011). For example, many previous content-based studies examined how athletes use Twitter (Coche, 2014; Frederick, Lim, Clavio, Pedersen, & Burch, 2014; Hambrick et al., 2010; Kassing & Sanderson, 2010; Lebel & Danylchuk 2012; Pegoraro 2010). This line of research found that athletes primarily use Twitter as a direct line to their fans, as opposed to having their messages disseminated – and possibly, filtered - by traditional public relations and media outlets (Hambrick et al., 2010). A noteworthy quality of Twitter is the concept of perceived authenticity. This idea is defined as the belief that a Twitter account is controlled directly by the person as

opposed to a third party. This question is dependent on that idea where the athletes themselves are posting on Twitter. Popular media has found that athletes prefer to be purists and choose to control their own accounts and message (Cohen, 2009). Audience-based research has examined the factors that will influence social media consumption, including characteristics, demographics, and gratifications (Clavio, 2011). Clavio and Kian (2010) performed an audience-based inquiry by studying the Twitter followers of a retired female athlete and found that the audience was predominantly caucasian, educated and wealthy. In addition, the scholars discovered that the audience chose to follow this athlete because they believed the athlete was an expert in the sport (Clavio & Kian, 2010). Many of these studies rely on the concept that social media use represents fan interest, as Twitter Followers or Facebook Likes have been used to indicate consumer interest in an athlete or sport product (Jensen et al., 2014; Perez, 2013; Watanabe et al., 2015). This concept is important for measuring how consumers interact with brands on Twitter.

Hashtag Use

An important part of interaction on Twitter is the use of the hashtag. Kwan, Lee, Park and Moon (2010) defined the hashtag as a way for Twitter users "to create and follow a thread of discussion by prefixing a word with a '#' character" (p. 592). Motivations for using hashtags vary between Twitter users, but Efron (2011) identified multiple benefits of using hashtags including increasing topical access to tweets so that Twitter users can follow tags and find groups of people discussing topics they are interested in and easily filter information. Researchers also found that hashtags serve as a way for users to both tag content and gain membership into an online community by

joining with other users who are communicating about the same topic (Yang, Sun, Zhang & Mei, 2012).

Researchers have examined how hashtags have been used in relationship to sports teams and events (Blaszka et al., 2012; Delia & Armstrong, 2015; Hambrick & Pegoraro, 2014; Smith & Smith, 2012). Blaszka et al. (2012) found that individuals who used #WorldSeries did so in order to express fanship. Smith and Smith (2012) examined the use of hashtags during the finals of the 2012 College World Series. The researchers determined that there were five main hashtags that were used from each team in conjunction with the popular #CWS hashtag, some of the hashtags were officially related to the school while others were created by users (Smith & Smith, 2012). The study determined that the use of the hashtag #CWS created a virtual environment that pulled together a particular audience, which connects fans through the use of the team-specific hashtags or recognizes opposing fans (Smith & Smith, 2012). A study surrounding the 2014 Sochi Winter Games examined three social networks within Twitter that formed around the hashtags #CheersToSochi, #WeAreWinter and #SochiProblems. The scholars used social network analyses to determine the similarities and differences between the three networks (Hambrick & Pegoraro, 2014). The researchers found that all of the observed networks experienced growth, however one of the networks was comparatively smaller than the other two networks. The scholars also noted that users with both large and small numbers of followers received substantial retweets, showing that users both large and small could influence the network (Hambrick & Pegoraro, 2014).

Delia and Armstrong (2015) examined the mentioning of sponsors on Twitter in conjunction with the hashtag, #FrenchOpen during the 2013 French Open tennis

tournament. The researchers found that the hashtag for the tournament was used almost 300,000 times, but the 22 sponsors were only mentioned a total of 1,138 times including only 22 posts originating from the sponsor's Twitter accounts. The researchers opined that due to the low number of sponsor related tweets during the tournament, if the sponsors want to generate more social media conversation the sponsors must consider strategies for increasing that conversation (Delia & Armstrong, 2015).

Social Capital

The concept of social capital has existed from the time of early philosophers, but has become modernized by sociologists in order to relate to more contemporary situations including the relationships between people within groups. Bourdieu (1986) described social capital as the actual or potential resources that a person or entity can gain due to membership within a group. Therefore, the amount of social capital controlled by an actor is dependent on the number of connections that the actor has, and the connections that the members of the actor's network possesses (Bourdieu, 1986). Coleman (1988) identified three forms of social capital: obligations and expectations, information channels, and social norms. Obligations and expectations is the concept that if an individual fulfills and obligation to another individual, the second individual has the expectation to reciprocate the original action. Information channels are the way that information is passed through the social structure and how that information will result in action. Social norms are defined as the rules of a group of people that facilitate certain actions as well as limiting other actions (Coleman, 1988). Through these forms, social capital can produce activity in which actors use the social structure to achieve goals or fulfill interests (Coleman, 1988). Nahapiet and Ghosha (1998) identified three different

dimensions within social capital: structure, relational and cognitive. Structure dimensions relate to the network ties and the network organization, and how information flows through the network. Relational dimensions include concepts such as trust, obligations and norms. Cognitive dimensions related to the shared narratives of people within the same network (Nahapiet & Ghosha, 1998). Quan-Haase and Wellman (2004) researched how the internet affects social capital and hypothesized that the internet will contribute new forms of communication and interaction. Those new forms of interaction include social media. Due to social media, the structural dimensions of networks have changed. This includes how information moves through the network, and how relationships form.

Studies have examined how social media affects social capital (Chang & Zhu, 2012; Ellison, Steinfield & Lampe, 2007; Jun, Kim & Lang, 2017; Lin & Lu, 2011; Nam, Kim, Kwon, 2016; Sajuria et al., 2015; Yen, 2016). Ellison et al. (2007) found that there is a positive relationship between Facebook use and the establishment and continuance of social capital. The existence of the online community does not eliminate the offline networks, but it may support relationships that are altered by distance (Ellison et al., 2007). Lin & Lu (2011) used the framework of Nahapiet and Ghosha (1998) and found that the three dimensions of social capital can influence the continued use of Facebook fan pages. Sajuria, vanHeerde-Hudson, Hudson, Dasandi, and Theocharis, (2015) studied online social capital on Twitter and found evidence that indicated social capital can be formed online by bringing together like-minded people through the sharing of information. However, the researchers did not examine whether the content of the tweets and the connections between users could build trust and norms which could provide evidence for the building of social capital in an online environment (Sajuria et al., 2015).

Scholars have applied this framework to determine the relationship of sport to social capital.

The existing literature of the relationship between sport and social capital pertains primarily to how sport contributes to social ties, the connection between social capital and sport participation, and the role of sport in a community (Geoff, Richard & Allison, 2012; Jarvie, 2003; Perks, 2007; Widdop, Cutts & Jarvie, 2016). There is a positive correlation between participation in sport and sustaining a community and strengthening social ties (Jarvie, 2003; Perks, 2007). Jarvie (2003) found that youth sport participation let to high involvement within the community as an adult. Phua (2012) studied the use of Facebook by football fans and found that the online experience is enhanced through the use of social media in terms of social capital. The sample of fans mostly formed weak ties with fans of the same team, but concurrently expanded their social network through new connections, this increased the potential for social capital through the expansion of information channels. In addition, Widdop et al., (2016) found that additional research regarding social networks is important to further understand the relationship between sport and social capital. In addition to the need to use the network perspective to examine sport and social capital, there has been limited research on sport business and brands and its relationship to social capital (Spaaij & Westerbeek, 2010). The researchers examined how sport businesses can utilize consumer social responsibility activities in order to produce social capital. They found that the social capital produced is largely determined by the business objectives of the organization and the network that the business is a part of (Spaaij & Westerbeek, 2010).

Brand Relationships on Twitter

The rise of social media has allowed companies to forge relationships directly with their customers (Holt, 2016). Eun, et al. (2011) found that Twitter is used by brands to establish and maintain relationships with consumers. Kim, et al. (2014) determined that the closer the relationship the followers of brands have with the brand, the more likely they are to retweet brand tweets. In addition, as consumers engage with these brands on social networking sites such as Twitter, they create a large amount of data regarding their experiences with the brand and the brand's products (Liu et al., 2017). The scholars found that people were more than three times more likely to express negative sentiments than to compliment the brands (Liu et al., 2017). However, in the same study, Liu, et al. (2017) noted that compared to the other industries examined, sport footwear brands had the highest number of positive and neutral tweets. In addition to the research regarding general brand relationships, there have been numerous studies that have explored the value of social media marketing for athletes, sport organizations and sports products on Twitter (Brison, Byon, & Baker, 2016; Do et al., 2015; Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Parganas, Anagnostopoulos, & Chadwick, 2015; Parganas, Anagnostopoulos, & Chadwick, 2017; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012; Sukjoon, Petrick & Backman, 2017; Walsh, Clavio, Lovell, & Blaszka, 2013; Watkins & Lee, 2016). However, scholars have examined social media marketing from different perspectives.

Scholars have researched the value of social media marketing and branding on Twitter from the perspective of the professional athlete (Brison et al., 2016; Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012). Studies found that online social networks create an opportunity for professional athletes to endorse a variety of products and by

sprinkling the promotional messages amongst the athlete's personal messages will make the advertising more genuine (Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012). Brison et al. (2016) found that an athlete endorsement can have a positive effect on an unfamiliar brand, thus supporting the concept that consumer attitudes can be affected by social media (Brison et al., 2016).

There have also been studies examining fan perception of a sport organization's brand on social media (Parganas et al., 2015; Parganas et al., 2017; Sukjoon et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2013; Watkins & Lee, 2016). Sport organizations rely on branding in order to have positive perception in the minds of their fans and potential fans. Parganas et al. (2015) found that fans were more likely to interact with the sport organization's Twitter feed when discussing the product-related attributes of the brand. Product attributes refer to core products of the team, including the sporting event and players, and research can determine what types of tweets will increase engagement with the consumers of the sport products (Parganas et al., 2015). Watkins and Lee (2016) evaluated the Twitter and Instagram feeds of a large southern U.S. university athletic program and found that Twitter was used to connect with fans while Instagram is better suited for creating brand associations due to its status as a visual based media. These findings were further supported by Sukjoon et al. (2017), who found that Twitter is important for university athletic departments in order to establish and foster relationships between their teams and fans. These studies all noted that the relationship with consumers will encourage continued engagement on Twitter and other social media outlets (Parganas et al., 2015; Parganas et al., 2017; Sukjoon et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2013; Watkins & Lee, 2016).

However, few studies have applied this research approach to how sport apparel brands use Twitter.

Scholars used the apparel brand Nike as a case study to examine the effect of brand sport sponsorship via social media on the quality of the brand-consumer relationship (Do et al., 2015). They found that the brand can improve its image through sport-sponsorship via social media use by directly engaging with consumers in order to increase consumer involvement with the brand's products (Do et al., 2015). The researchers suggest that companies should use social media to engage consumers in genuine interaction which could lead to increased involvement and positive brandconsumer relationships (Do et al., 2015). Lee and Kahle (2016) performed a content analysis of the four largest sport apparel brands to determine the values and emotions that the brands express on Twitter. The researchers found that Nike was most likely to tweet about accomplishment, and tweeted about that value more than any brand or sport organization in the study (Lee & Kahle, 2016). By contrast, adidas tweeted about the value of fun and enjoyment in association with its brand (Lee & Kahle, 2016). The brands communicate different messages and values on Twitter, and the researchers suggested that future research examine how fans of the brands tweet (Lee & Kahle, 2016). Based on the previous research and the goals of this study the following research questions were developed:

Research Questions

RQ1: Do fans of college basketball teams tweet using the corresponding brand's

hashtags?

RQ2: Are certain brand hashtags more popular than others?

RQ3: How do the conversations of different brands vary

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

This research will consist of a content analysis of data collected during a 14-day period from the social media platform Twitter. Similar to the study performed by Lee and Kahle (2016) which evaluated sport apparel brands' use of Twitter in terms of social media content the brands produced, this study will examine how fans interact with the brand on Twitter, and how they use the brand hashtags in relation to college basketball teams.

Among sport apparel brands, adidas and Nike have the largest U.S. market share, with adidas surpassing the Air Jordan brand to become the second best-selling footwear behind Nike in the U.S. (La Monica, 2017). Nike and adidas are also featured on the Forbes Global 2000, which measures the world's most valuable public companies. In the most recent listing, Nike was ranked the second-most valuable apparel company only behind Christian Dior (Williams, 2017). Recently, adidas has been gaining ground on Nike, almost doubling its previous market share in the U.S. market from 6.6% to 11.3% while Nike fell from 39% to 37% (Morgan, 2017). This increase in U.S. market share from adidas is part of the reason why Under Armour's North America sales were down 12 percent for the last fiscal quarter (Thomas, 2017).

One of the biggest markets for sport apparel companies is in the field of collegiate sports, with companies willing to invest large amounts. For example, Nike entered a \$252 million/15-year contract with the Ohio State University, and Under Armour signed the University of Notre Dame to a 10-year contract for more than \$90 million (Bulter-Young, 2016). In addition to the market value of Nike, adidas, and Under Armour and the impact on the professional and collegiate sports community, the three brands also each have a substantial following on Twitter (Twitter, 2017).

Among sport apparel brands, Nike has the most followers with more than 7 million, followed by Nike-owned Jordan brand with 3.4 million, NikeFootball with 3.3 million then adidas with 3.2 million followers. The brands also have sport-specific and accounts which have millions of followers on their own. The most popular for Nike is @nikefootball (American football) while adidas' is @adidasfootball (soccer); both have more than 3 million followers. The only non-Nike or adidas account in the top ten among sporting goods brands is Puma. Under Armour is 13th on the list with just under 1 million followers, however if sport specific accounts of Nike and adidas were removed from the list, Under Armour would be fifth overall (twittercounter.com, 2017).

Units of Analysis

The units of analysis included Twitter data surrounding three major sport apparel brands of Nike, adidas and Under Armour, and five of the universities that each brand sponsors. The 15 universities selected all have significance in collegiate basketball, and data was gathered in the early part of the 2017-18 conference season. The five Nike universities include the University of Kentucky (UK), Duke University (Duke), University of North Carolina (UNC), University of Connecticut (UConn) and Michigan

State University (MSU). UNC was selected because it is the reigning 2017 champion and has the most Final Four NCAA tournament appearances in history. Duke was selected because it was the champion in 2015, and has five total NCAA championships. UK was the 2012 NCAA champion, and is second on the all-time list for NCAA championships with eight (allbrackets.com, 2017). In addition, UK has won the past three Southeastern Conference (SEC) championships (secsports.com, 2017). MSU has reached the Final Four in 2010 and 2015, and won the 2000 NCAA tournament (allbrackets.com, 2017). MSU has also won the most Big Ten men's basketball tournament championships with five since the conference added a tournament in 1998, with MSU's most recent win coming in 2016 (bigten.org, 2017). UConn won the 2011 and 2014 men's NCAA championships, and the Huskies' women's basketball team won four consecutive national titles from 2012-2016 and had a 111-game win streak from 2015-2017, the longest in NCAA basketball history (Chiusano, 2017).

The five adidas universities included the University of Kansas (KU), University of Louisville (UL), Indiana University (IU), Mississippi State University (MSST), and University of Miami (Miami). KU won the national championship most recently in 2008 to bring its total up to three NCAA championships, and the Jayhawks were also the runner-up in 2012. UL won the championship in 2013 (allbrackets.com, 2017) and signed a \$160 million contract with adidas in 2017, which is the fourth most lucrative apparel deal in collegiate athletics (Chiari, 2017). IU has had a historically strong basketball program with five NCAA championships. Miami has reached the Sweet Sixteen three times and won the Atlantic Coast Conference in 2013 (coachesdatabase.com, 2017), and Miami was also the first university to sign and all-sports contract with an apparel

company (Muzenrieder, 2015). MSST made its mark on NCAA basketball with the women's team making their first NCAA final in 2017 by snapping the 111-win streak of UConn (Chiusano, 2017). In addition, Miami and UL were both mentioned in an FBI investigation in a corruption scandal regarding adidas and prominent Adidas-sponsored collegiate athletic programs (Tracy, 2017).

The five Under Armour universities included the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), University of Wisconsin (UW), University of Maryland (UM), University of Notre Dame (ND), and University of South Carolina (SC). UCLA has the record for the most NCAA tournament titles with 11, including seven consecutive titles from 1967 to 1973. UW has had success in recent years with a Final Four appearance in 2014 and a runner-up finish in 2015 (allbrackets.com). ND made consecutive Elite Eights in 2015 and 2016 (Litman, 2017). UM won an NCAA championship in 2002 (allbrackets.com, 2017), and UM is also the flagship athletic program for Under Armour, as Under Armour founder and CEO Kevin Plank is a UM graduate and former UM student athlete (Tracy, 2015). South Carolina's men's basketball team won its first NCAA tournament game since 1973 en route to the Final Four in 2017 (Rutherford, 2017). In addition, the SC women's basketball team was the 2017 NCAA champion (Goldberg, 2017).

Data Gathering

The researcher used Tweet Archivist to collect the data from Twitter using different search queries, then performed a content analysis on emerging trends within the Twitter data. Tweet Archivist is a Twitter analytics software that pulls tweets from Twitter based on search queries. The software polls Twitter once an hour, continuously

updating the archive for a period of time set by the researcher. Each archive can be downloaded to an Adobe PDF or Microsoft Excel file that includes the Tweet content, the individual's username, universal date and time stamp and any media content included in the tweet (Billings, Burch & Zimmerman, 2015). Many previous studies have used content analysis to discover trends in Twitter data (Clavio, 2010; Hambrick et al., 2010; Lee and Kahle, 2016). Multiple search queries will be used to determine if the sports brands are mentioned in conjunction with the handles and hashtags associated with the universities they sponsor. Previous studies have examined the use of hashtags in relation to sport organizations and events (Blaszka et al., 2012; Delia & Armstrong, 2015; Smith & Smith, 2012).

First, the researcher performed individual queries to determine the frequency of use of the brand hashtags, basketball team Twitter handle, university athletic department hashtag, and the basketball team specific hashtag independent of other variables. The researcher then searched the six main queries to examine tweets mentioning the basketball team handle with the brand hashtag, the basketball team handle with brand name, university athletic department hashtag with brand hashtag, university athletic department hashtag with brand name, basketball team specific hashtag with brand hashtag, and basketball team specific hashtag with brand name. The brand hashtags that were used are the current hashtags based on the current Twitter account information. For Nike the brand hashtag is #JustDoIt, the adidas brand hashtag is #HereToCreate and the brand Under Armour is #WEWILL (Twitter, 2018). All of the selected basketball teams have their own Twitter feeds; however, not every basketball team has a unique hashtag mentioned on their Twitter feed, as some only use the athletic department featured

hashtag, and an example is MSST, which ubiquitously uses the hashtag #hailstate for all sports. These different queries examined the types of conversations about sport brands regarding collegiate basketball and the data was collected during the period of January 15, 2018 to January 28, 2018 when all of the teams played conference opponents and all teams but one played in four games.

Statistical Analysis

The researcher used SPSS statistical software to perform independent t-tests in order to determine if the difference between using the brand name versus the use of the brand's hashtag is statistically significant for each university. In addition, the researcher used an analysis of variance (ANOVA) to compare the differences between the use of the different brands and its hashtags. The researcher used SPSS to determine if there is a correlation between the total number of tweets and the number of tweets that mention the brand. The researcher also used SPSS to determine if there is a correlation between the conversations about each brand. Using independent t-tests was appropriate because the units of analysis are not dependent on each other. In addition, ANOVA was an appropriate method of analysis for comparing hashtag use between the different brands because there are multiple independent variables. Correlations are also appropriate to determine if there was a relationship between the different variables. (Gravetter & Wallnau, 2015).

Pilot Study

At the start of the college basketball nonconference season in November 2017, the researcher performed a pilot study examining tweets related to the five Nike schools over

a period of three days. The purpose of the pilot study was to determine whether the team hashtags, brand hashtags, and team specific Twitter handles are used and if there is data. Using Tweet Archivist, Twitter was polled after the researcher inputted six queries for each of the five teams and also 15 queries that included the individual team hashtags, team Twitter handles, brand hashtag and team specific hashtag (Table 1). The collected data from the individual queries showed that there is considerable use of the hashtags and Twitter handles with nine of the individual queries having more than 100 mentions on Twitter in the three-day period (Table 1).

Table 1 List of Queries and Number of Collected Tweets

Query	Collected Tweets	Query	Collected Tweets
#SpartanDawg	56	@DukeMBB	6282
#SpartanDawg Nike	0	@DukeMBB Nike	2
#SpartanDawg #JustDoit	0	@DukeMBB #JustDoIt	0
@MSU_Basketball	811	#GoDuke	873
@MSU_Basketball Nike	30	#GoDuke Nike	0
@MSU_Basketball #JustDolt	0	#GoDuke #JustDoIt	0
#GoGreen	2871	#GoHeels	1814
#GoGreen Nike	0	#GoHeels Nike	0
#GoGreen #JustDolt	2	#GoHeels #JustDolt	0
#BBN	4247	@UNC_Basketball	1332
#BBN Nike	3	@UNC_Basketball Nike	1
#BBN #JustDolt	0	@UNC_Basketball #JustDolt	0
@KentuckyMBB	2099	#CarolinaSZN	883
@KentuckyMBB Nike	1	#CarolinaSZN Nike	0
@KentuckeyMBB #JustDolt	0	#CarolinaSZN #JustDolt	0
#EmbraceTheBattle	14	#UConnNation	1378
#EmbraceTheBattle Nike	0	#UConnNation Nike	0
#EmbraceTheBattle #JustDolt	0	#UConnNation #JustDolt	0
#HereComesDuke	1160	@UConnMBB	248
#HereComesDuke Nike	0	@UConnMBB Nike	2
#HereComesDuke #JustDoIt	0	@UConnMBB #JustDolt	0
#JustDolt	1704		

Although there is a small number of tweets that use both the basketball team and the brand, there was a difference between the frequency of the use of the hashtag versus the use of the brand name. From the content analysis of the collected tweets, the most common trends within the six queries included discussion of branded uniforms, individual player statistics, and merchandise (Table 2).

 Table 2
 Content Analysis of Tweets by Query

Query	Branded Uniforms	Individual Player Statistics	Mechandise	Other	Total Collected Tweet
"#SpartanDawg" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#SpartanDawg" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"@MSU_Basketball" & "Nike	30	0	0	0	30
"@MSU_Basketball" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoGreen" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoGreen" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	2	2
"#BBN" & "Nike"	0	0	1	2	3
"#BBN" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"@KentuckyMBB" & "Nike"	0	1	0	0	1
"@KentuckyMBB" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#EmbraceTheBattle" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#EmbraceTheBattle" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#HereComesDuke" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#HereComesDuke" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"@DukeMBB" & "Nike"	0	2	0	0	2
"@DukeMBB" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoDuke" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoDuke" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoHeels" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#GoHeels" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"@UNC_Basketball" & "Nike"	0	0	0	1	1
"@UNC_Basketball" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#CarolinaSZN" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#CarolinaSZN" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"#UConnNation" & "Nike"	0	0	0	0	0
"#UConnNation" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
"@UConnMBB" & "Nike"	2	0	0	0	2
"@UConnMBB" & "#JustDoIt"	0	0	0	0	0
Total	32	3	1	5	41

However, due to the small sample size of the analyzed the tweets during the pilot study the researcher anticipated additional trends to be discovered during the main study. The pilot study additionally informed the researcher that the hashtags and Twitter handles are used on Twitter.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Use of Brand Hashtags

The mentions of sport apparel brand hashtags totaled 50,551 during the 14-day period of data collection. There were 36,060 mentions of the adidas hashtag: #HereToCreate, which was the most of any single recorded Twitter handle or hashtag during the study. Nike's hashtag #JustDoIt was recorded 12,189 times, and Under Armour's hashtag #WeWill was mentioned 2,302 times. The mentions of the basketball team handles, athletic department hashtag and respective team-specific hashtags are shown in Table 3.

 Table 3
 Total Collected Tweets by Handle or Hashtag

Under Armour Handles/Hashtags	Number of Tweets	adidas handles/hashtags	Number of Tweets	Nike Handles/Hashtags	Number of Tweets
@NDMBB	1608	@HailStateMBK	3192	@KentuckyMBB	28632
#NotDoneYet	1734	#hailstate	18267	#BBN	28520
#Golrish	8644	@IndianaMBB	9198	#EmbraceTheBattle	5
@TerrapinHoops	3992	#GoIU	1038	@DukeMBB	35325
#FearTheTurtle	2242	#iubb	13720	#goduke	2989
@BadgerMBB	5021	@KUHoops	17720	#HereComesDuke	8452
#OnWisconsin	4311	#Kubball	22925	@UNC_Basketball	24152
#Badgers	9808	#RockChalk	6052	#goheels	6901
@GamecockMBB	10279	@LouisvilleMBB	4635	#CarolinaSZN	8494
#Gamecocks	17532	#GoCards	5178	@MSU_Basketball	7427
@UCLAMBB	2556	#L1C4	4657	#gogreen	22245
#GoBruins	5607	@CanesHoops	6261	#SpartanDawg	390
		#GoCanes	2203	@UConnMBB	1976
				#UConnNation	1884
Under Schools Armour Total	73334	Adidas Schools Total	115046	Nike Schools Total	177392

Between the 15 universities representing the three brands, 365,772 tweets were collected (N = 365,772). Within the total collected tweets, only two tweets (<0.00001%) also mentioned the sponsors hashtag, and both of those tweets mentioned the Nike-related

hashtag #JustDoIt. Only 597 tweets (0.002%) mentioned the brand name. Both of sets of tweets are shown in Table 4.

Table 4 Total Collected Tweets including Brand Name or Brand Hashtag

Twitter Queries Nike	Total Tweets	Twitter Queries adidas	Total Tweets	Twitter Queries Under Armour	Total Tweets
#BBN Nike	60	#RockChalk adidas	2	#Gamecocks Under Armour	0
#BBN #JustDoIt	1	#RockChalk #HereToCreate	0	#Gamecocks #WEWILL	0
@KentuckyMBB Nike	13	@KUHoops adidas	7	@GamecocksMBB Under Armour	0
@KentuckyMBB #JustDoIt	1	@KUHoops #HereToCreate	0	@GamecocksMBB #WEWILL	0
#EmbraceTheBattle Nike	0	#KUBball adidas 6		#GoBruins Under Armour	0
#EmbraceTheBattle #JustDoIt	0	#KUBball #HereToCreate	0	#GoBruins #WEWILL	0
#GoDuke Nike	1	#GoCards adidas	4	@UCLAMBB Under Armour	0
#GoDuke #JustDoIt	0	#GoCards #HereToCreate	0	@UCLAMBB #WEWILL	0
@DukeMBB Nike	17	@LouisvilleMBB adidas	1	#Badgers Under Armour	0
@DukeMBB #JustDoIt	0	@LouisvilleMBB #HereToCreate	0	#Badgers #WEWILL	0
#HereComesDuke Nike	1	#L1C4 adidas	2	@BadgerMBB Under Armour	0
#HereComesDuke #JustDoIt	0	#L1C4 #HereToCreate	0	@BadgerMBB #WEWILL	0
#GoHeels Nike	1	#GoIU adidas	0	#OnWisconsin Under Armour	0
#GoHeels #JustDoIt	0	#GoIU #HereToCreate	0	#OnWisconsin #WEWILL	0
@UNC_Basketball Nike	20	@IndianaMBB adidas	2	#FearTheTurtle Under Armour	0
@UNC_Basketball #JustDoIt	0	@IndianaMBB #HereToCreate	0	#FearTheTurtle #WEWILL	0
#CarolinaSZN Nike	2	#iubb adidas	3	@TerrapinHoops Under Armour	0
#CarolinaSZN #JustDoIt	0	#iubb #HereToCreate	0	@TerrapinHoops #WEWILL	0
@UConnMBB Nike	1	#hailstate adidas	22	#Golrish Under Armour	2
@UConnMBB #JustDoIt	0	#hailstate #HereToCreate	0	#Golrish #WEWILL	0
#UConnNation Nike	0	@HailStateMBK adidas	0	@NDmbb Under Armour	0
#UConnNation #JustDolt	0	@HailStateMBK #HereToCreate	0	@NDmbb #WEWILL	0
#GoGreen Nike	309	#GoCanes adidas	0	#NotDoneYet Under Armour	0
#GoGreen #JustDoIt	0	#GoCanes #HereToCreate	0	#NotDoneYet #WEWILL	0
@MSU_Basketball Nike	120	@CanesHoops adidas	1		
@MSU_Basketball #JustDoIt	0	@CanesHoops #HereToCreate	0		
#SpartanDawg Nike	0				
#SpartanDawg #JustDoIt	0				

A breakdown of total collected tweets by university, including total number of branded tweets, is shown in Table 5.

 Table 5
 Percentage of tweets including brand hashtag or brand name by school

Univeristy	Total Tweets	Branded Tweets	% of Branded Tweets
UK	57157	75	0.0013
Duke	46766	19	0.0004
UConn	3860	1	0.0003
MSU	30062	429	0.0143
UNC	39547	23	0.0006
MSST	21459	22	0.0010
KU	46697	15	0.0003
Miami	8464	1	0.0001
IU	23956	5	0.0002
UL	14470	7	0.0005
ND	11986	2	0.0002
UW	19140	0	0.0000
UCLA	8163	0	0.0000
UM	6234	0	0.0000
SC	27811	0	0.0000

Kentucky (UK) has the highest total number of tweets, however the university that has the highest percentage of tweets that mention the brand is Michigan State University (MSU) which just over 1%. It was found that there is an insignificant correlation between the total number of tweets and the number of tweets that mention the brand, r = .23, p = .42.

Within the 597 tweets, the brand name *Nike* was mentioned 547 times (91.62%), adidas was mentioned 50 times (8.37%) and *Under Armour* was mentioned only twice (0.34%). Since the brand hashtags were only used in two instances, and only in regard to *Nike* universities, there was not enough data to determine whether there is a significant difference between the use of the brand hashtag and the brand name for any of the data

sets including the adidas or Under Armour schools. However, an insignificant correlation was found between total mentions of the brand hashtag and mentions of the hashtag in conjunction with the basketball handle or hashtag, r = -0.23, p = .85.

As shown in Table 4, there were two datasets in which both the brand name and the brand hashtag were used in conjunction with the university hashtag. However, there was not a significant difference between the use of the brand name, Nike, and the hashtag #JustDoIt in conjunction with the athletic department hashtag #BBN as assessed by the collected tweets (M = 30.50, SD = 41.72), 95% CI [-344.33, 405.33] t(1) = 1.03, p = .489. In addition, there was not a significant difference between the use of the brand name, Nike, and the hashtag: #JustDoIt in conjunction with the basketball team handle @KentuckyMBB as assessed by the collected tweets (M = 7, SD = 8.485), 95% CI [-69.24, 83.24] t(1) = 1.17, p = .451. In addition to comparing the individual pairs, each university's set of queries included basketball team handle, university specific hashtag, and basketball team specific hashtag to determine whether there was a significant difference between the total numbers of tweets that used the brand name compared to the use of the brand hashtag.

On average, Twitter users who tweeted using Kentucky (UK) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name Nike (M = 24.33, SD = 31.57) than use the hashtag #JustDoIt (M = .67, SD = .577). This difference, 23.67, 95% CI [-26.94, 74.27], was not significant t(4) = 1.30, p = .26. Twitter users who tweeted using Duke handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name Nike (M = 6.33, SD = 9.24) than use the hashtag #JustDoIt (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 6.33, 95% CI [-8.474, 21.41], was not significant t(4) = 1.19, p = .30. Twitter users who tweeted using North

Carolina (UNC) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name *Nike* (M = 7.67, SD = 10.69) than use the hashtag #JustDoIt (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 7.67, 95% CI [-9.473, 24.81], was not significant t(4) = 1.24, p = .28. Twitter users who tweeted using Connecticut (UConn) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name *Nike* (M = .50, SD = .71) than use the hashtag #JustDoIt (M = 0, SD = 0). However, this difference, .50, 95% CI [-1.65, 2.65], was not significant t(2) = 1.0, p = .42. Twitter users who tweeted using Michigan State (MSU) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name *Nike* (M = 143.0, SD = 155.78) than use the hashtag #JustDoIt (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 143.0, 95% CI [-106.71, 392.71] also was not significant t(4) = 1.59, p = .19.

Twitter users who tweeted using Kansas (KU) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name adidas (M = 5.00, SD = 2.65) than use the hashtag #HereToCreate (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 5.0, 95% CI [.76, 9.24], was significant t(4) = 3.27, p = .03. Twitter users who tweeted using Louisville (LU) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name adidas (M = 2.33, SD = 1.53) than use the hashtag #HereToCreate (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 2.33, 95% CI [-0.16, 4.78], was not significant t(4) = 2.65, p = .06. Twitter users who tweeted using Indiana (IU) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name adidas (M = 1.67, SD = 1.53) than use the hashtag #HereToCreate (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 1.67, 95% CI [-0.78, 4.12], was not significant t(4) = 1.89, p = .132. Twitter users who tweeted using Miami handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name adidas (M = .50, SD = .71) than use the hashtag #HereToCreate (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, .50, 95% CI [-1.65, 2.65], was not significant t(2) = 1.0, p = .42. Twitter users who tweeted using

Mississippi State (MSST) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name adidas (M = 11.0, SD = 15.56) than use the hashtag #HereToCreate (M = 0, SD = 0). This difference, 11.0, 95% CI [-36.33, 58.33], was not significant t(2) = 1.0, p = .42.

Twitter users who tweeted using Notre Dame (ND) handles and hashtags were more likely to use the brand name $Under\ Armour\ (M=.67,SD=1.16)$ than use the hashtag $\#WEWILL\ (M=0,SD=0)$. This difference, 0.67, 95% CI [-1.18, 2.52], was not significant t(4)=1.00, p=.37. The other Under Armour affiliated universities: Wisconsin (UW), South Carolina (SC), Maryland (UM) and UCLA, do not have a calculated t-value because there were no tweets mentioning either $Under\ Armour$ or #WEWILL, which means that the standard deviation would be zero.

Due to the limited amount of data, it was not possible to perform an ANOVA to compare the use of the brand hashtag in conjunction with the basketball handles and hashtags. However, a two-way contingency analysis was conducted to evaluate whether there was a relationship between the brand (Nike, adidas, Under Armour) and hashtag use (used, not used). The two variables were found to be significantly related, $\chi^2(1, n = 599) = 591.03$, p < .001.

It is important to note that for this research both original tweets and retweets (posts that were originally created by one user and then reposted by another user) were counted as unique mentions of the brand name or the brand's hashtag. In addition, it is important to understand that not every basketball team had its own specific hashtag, and therefore there is not the same number of analyzed hashtags for each of the three brands (Table 3).

Content of Branded Tweets

The 599 tweets featuring the respective brands were coded based on emerging themes that were observed during the pilot study as well as new themes that emerged during data collection. The tweets were placed in to seven categories including *uniforms*, discussion of team's uniforms; *merchandise*, team apparel or shoes available for purchase; *team information*, general information about team wins or player statistics; *general university fanship*, expression of fanship of the university not specific to particular team; *other sports*, discussion of sports other than men's basketball; *scandal*, discussion of negative events regarding the university and brand; and *other*, which identified tweets that did not fit the other categories.

The content analysis of the 547 tweets (n = 547) regarding the *Nike* universities is found in Table 6, the *adidas* university-related tweets are found in Table 7, and the tweets collected about Under Armour are found in Table 8.

 Table 6
 Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding Nike Universities

Twitter Queries	Uniforms	Merchandise	Team Information	General University Fanship	Other Sports	Scandal	Other	Total Tweets
#BBN Nike	0	11	22	27	0	0	0	60
#BBN #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
@KentuckyMBB Nike	0	0	8	0	0	0	5	13
@KentuckyMBB #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
#EmbraceTheBattle Nike	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#EmbraceTheBattle #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoDuke Nike	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1
#GoDuke #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@DukeMBB Nike	0	10	6	0	0	0	1	17
@DukeMBB #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#HereComesDuke Nike	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
#HereComesDuke #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoHeels Nike	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
#GoHeels #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@UNC_Basketball Nike	0	3	1	0	14	0	2	20
@UNC_Basketball #JustDolt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#CarolinaSZN Nike	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	2
#CarolinaSZN #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@UConnMBB Nike	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
@UConnMBB #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#UConnNation Nike	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#UConnNation #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoGreen Nike	0	0	0	0	304	0	5	309
#GoGreen #JustDolt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@MSU_Basketball Nike	7	55	0	0	0	58	0	120
@MSU_Basketball #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#SpartanDawg Nike	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#SpartanDawg #JustDoIt	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total Nike Tweets	7	80	38	27	319	58	18	547
Percentage of Total	1%	15%	7%	5%	58%	11%	3%	100%

Table 7

Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding adidas Universities

Twitter Queries	Uniforms	Merchandise	Team Information	General University Fanship	Other Sports	Scandal	Other	Total Tweets
#RockChalk adidas	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	2
#RockChalk #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@KUHoops adidas	0	0	0	0	0	7	0	7
@KUHoops #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#KUBball adidas	0	0	0	0	0	6	0	6
#KUBball #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoCards adidas	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	4
#GoCards #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@LouisvilleMBB adidas	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
@LouisvilleMBB #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#L1C4 adidas	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2
#L1C4 #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoIU adidas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoIU #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@IndianaMBB adidas	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	2
@IndianaMBB #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#iubb adidas	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	3
#iubb #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#hailstate adidas	0	1	0	0	21	0	0	22
#hailstate #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@HailStateMBK adidas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@HailStateMBK #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoCanes adidas	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoCanes #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@CanesHoops adidas	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
@CanesHoops #HereToCreate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total adidas Tweets	3	2	0	3	23	18	1	50
Percentage of Total	6%	4%	0%	6%	46%	36%	2%	100%

Table 8 Content Analysis of Twitter Queries regarding Under Armour
Universities

Twitter Queries	Uniforms	Merchandise	Team Information	General University Fanship	Other Sports	Scandal	Other	Total Tweets
#Gamecocks Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#Gamecocks #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@GamecocksMBB Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@GamecocksMBB #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoBruins Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#GoBruins #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@UCLAMBB Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@UCLAMBB #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#Badgers Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#Badgers #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@BadgerMBB Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@BadgerMBB #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#OnWisconsin Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#OnWisconsin #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#FearTheTurtle Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#FearTheTurtle #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@TerrapinHoops Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@TerrapinHoops #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#Golrish Under Armour	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
#Golrish #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@NDmbb Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
@NDmbb #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#NotDoneYet Under Armour	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
#NotDoneYet #WEWILL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total Tweets	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	2
Percentage of Total	0%	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	100%

Under Armour's only two tweets were both related to merchandise, but adidas and Nike, had more total tweets with the highest percentage of tweets falling into the other sports category with 46% and 58.3% respectively. The second-highest percentage of tweets for Nike were tweets in the merchandise category, but in adidas the second highest was in the scandal category. One interesting result was that 6.9% of Nike tweets were categorized into team information, but there were no Under Armour or adidas tweets that fit into that same category. Although the data is limited there is a difference in magnitude of overall conversation between the brands, with Nike representing 91% of the total tweets. In addition, there is not a significant difference between the categorized tweets about the individual brands. A one-way independent analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to examine the effects of the brand (Nike vs. adidas vs. Under Armour) on tweets per category. Results revealed no significant effect, F(2, 18) = 3.26, p

= .06. However, there was a strong positive correlation in the relationship between the categorized Nike tweets and the categorized of the adidas tweets, r = .781, p = .04. Whereas there was almost no correlation in the relationship between the categorized Nike tweets and the categorized Under Armour tweets, r = .01, p = .99. It was also found that there was a weak negative correlation between the categorized adidas tweets and the categorized Under Armour tweets, r = -0.24, p = .60.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Sport apparel brands have played a significant role in the collegiate athletic industry since 1987, when Nike signed the University of Miami to the first all-sports contract (Muzenrieder, 2015). Apparel contracts have come a long way since the original Miami deal, as companies are now spending tens of millions of dollars each year in both cash and equipment to have a relationship with university athletic departments (Schwerman, 2017). Apparel companies receive benefits such as television exposure as well as merchandising and marketing opportunities (Butler-Young, 2016). With the rise of social media, brands now have the opportunity to establish a direct relationship with potential customers (Holt, 2016). Scholars have examined how brands interact and form relationships on Twitter (Eun, et al., 2011; Kim, et al. 2014, & Liu, et al., 2017) and have also looked at the value of social media marketing and sponsorship for athletes and sport organizations (Brison, et al., 2016; Do et al., 2015; Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Parganas, et al., 2015; Parganas, et al., 2017; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012; Sukjoon, et al., 2017; Walsh, et al., 2013; Watkins & Lee, 2016). In the current study, the researcher used Twitter to examine how people discuss college basketball teams and the teams affiliated brand in an online community.

Brand Mentions on Twitter

RQ1 asked whether fans of the respective college basketball teams in this study use the affiliated brand's hashtag. Delia and Armstrong (2015) found that Twitter users did not often mention the sponsors in conjunction with the hashtag, #FrenchOpen. This was consistent with the findings of the current study, in which the branded tweets made up less than 0.01% of the total collected tweets. In addition, similar to the previous study by Delia and Armstrong (2015), the current study found that none of the tweets were produced by the brands themselves. There was also a large amount of conversation about each of the individual teams, with an average of more than 24,000 tweets collected per team. However, Nike, adidas, and Under Armour are closer to the core sport product, basketball, compared to the sponsors that were studied during the French Open. For example, during the French Open the most mentioned sponsor was FedEx, which does not relate to the core product of the French Open, which is tennis. Nike, adidas and Under Armour all have products that directly relate to basketball, including equipment and apparel. Therefore, there is more of an opportunity for sport apparel brands to connect to fans of collegiate basketball teams because the interest in basketball is directly related to the products they manufacture.

RQ2 asked whether certain brand hashtags were more popular than others.

Amongst the collected tweets Nike had 91% of the total sponsorship mentions within the sample, which indicates that it is able to generate the greatest amount of online conversation in regard to collegiate basketball compared to the other two brands.

However, the number of mentions is so few that none of the three brands generated any

conversation in comparison to the total number of tweets. Kansas was the only university where the Twitter users were significantly more likely to use the brand name instead of the brand hashtag across all three queries. However, the brand name was only mentioned by Twitter users 15 times and the brand's hashtag was never mentioned within the 46,697 collected tweets. So, while there was a significant difference in mentions, there was still less than 0.001% of the conversation that mentioned both adidas and the Kansas handle and hashtags. If the sport apparel brands are interested in creating an online conversation or community in conjunction with collegiate basketball teams, they many need to consider a new social media strategy in order to encourage discussion

The limited sponsorship discussion does not give a clear direction on how to more effectively encourage interaction on social media. The single most popular tweet that mentioned the sponsor was retweeted 303 times. That tweet, which included the brand name "Nike" and the Michigan State (MSU) athletic department hashtag, #GoGreen, announced a shoe giveaway at a women's basketball game. That tweet and the subsequent retweets, made up for 51% of the total tweets that mentioned any brand, but as it still represented less than 0.01% of the tweets that mentioned the MSU hashtags or Twitter handle. Giveaways and promotions could be a way to successfully increase brand mentions, but there is nothing to suggest that they would strengthen a customer's relationship with the brand or encourage brand loyalty.

Social capital is actual or potential resources that a person or entity can gain due to membership within a group (Bourdieu, 1986). Through sponsorship deals, the brands are hoping to acquire resources from gaining membership within the university athletic community by purchasing an endorsement contract with that university. The sport apparel

brands gain social capital in multiple ways through their association with the universities. They gain access to information channels by being a part of the athletic community and through advertisements at collegiate sporting events. They potentially gain social capital through the relationships with athletes that could lead to long-term deals if an athlete reaches the professional level (Butler-Young, 2016). There are additional opportunities for brands to receive social media exposure through these partnerships.

Sajuria et al. (2015) examined online social capital and found that social capital could be created on Twitter but did not examine whether the content of the tweets and the connections between users could build trust and norms. Based on the current study, it is clear that the brands are not building social capital on Twitter with respect to the collegiate basketball teams and the online community that surrounds each team. The implication is that brands do not actively attempt to relate to fans of the basketball team on social media. However, it is important to note that each of these university athletic departments and basketball teams have thousands - and sometimes even millions - of followers (Twitter, 2018). Therefore, the brands are missing out an opportunity to easily connect to a large number of people. However, while researchers have found that it is possible to build social capital in an online environment (Ellison et al., 2007; Sajuria et al., 2015), there is not enough research that proves that building social capital online is the most effective use of resources for brands who are interested in acquiring resources from membership to another group.

In addition, no tweets within the sample originated from the any of the brands that either acknowledge the connection to the university or to celebrate success of the team. It the brand initiates discussion or interaction they can control the message to potential

customers. If the brands want to strengthen their relationships with the fans of the collegiate basketball teams, they need to embrace a new social media strategy. New strategies could include the brand making targeted social media posts during key games, especially during rivalry games, conference tournaments, or the NCAA championship. By utilizing championship events, the brands have the opportunity to connect to fans within the virtual environment that would be created during the specific event. As previously mentioned, giveaways and promotions could be another avenue that brands could explore in order to stimulate online conversation. However, that conversation may not lead to a lasting relationship between the brand and the customers and may not be the most effective way to increase social media presence.

Hashtag Use

Further answering RQ2, the brand hashtags were almost never used in conjunction with the basketball team handles and athletic department hashtags, and never used in conjunction with the basketball team specific hashtags. The hashtags are at the center of each brand's marketing campaign, but each hashtag has different history and meaning for each brand. Nike's "Just Do It", which was introduced in 1988, is the one of the oldest and most recognized slogans among all brands (Gianatasio, 2013). In comparison, adidas and Under Armour unveiled new hashtags to go along with marketing campaigns that they introduced in 2017. The adidas hashtag #HereToCreate was first unveiled as part of their "Create Yours" collection that was released during the NCAA college basketball tournaments in 2017 (Boone, 2017). Under Armour also recently adopted a new hashtag, #WEWILL, which was an evolution of its old hashtag, #IWILL, in order to emphasize their message about the power of sport and teamwork (Barker, 2017).

Based on historical significance and the longtime establishment of the Nike hashtag, it was hypothesized that it would be the most used hashtag overall. However, within the current sample, #HereToCreate was mentioned almost three times as often which suggested that adidas has the most successful hashtag of the three brands. With #WEWILL only mentioned under 3,000 times, which was considerably less than the other two brands' hashtags, it can be inferred that this is not as successful of a hashtag as the Nike and adidas hashtags.

Previous research has found that hashtag use in sports is primarily to express fanship or to join or follow an online community (Blaszka et al., 2012; Smith & Smith, 2012). In the case of Under Armour, the brand is not creating a large online community on Twitter using through the use of their hashtag. Unlike Nike, Under Armour has had slogan turnover with its original slogan "Protect this House" only appearing in 2003 (Sutherlin, 2016). However, the adidas hashtag and marketing campaign is also less than a year old, and that was the most used hashtag across the entire data set. Therefore, it cannot be assumed that a hashtag needs long-term exposure among potential customers in order to be successfully used to encourage conversation. Based on the current results, it can be concluded that Under Armour has considerably fewer fans than Nike and adidas, which is consistent with Under Armour only controlling 2.4% of the market share of footwear in the U.S. (Roberts, 2017). However, with a brand hashtag used only twice in the total collected tweets, it is clear that fans of the basketball teams do not use the hashtag of the corresponding brand. Therefore, the fans of the specific teams are not creating a virtual environment in which they are also communicating about the associated brand. While there is a conversation about the teams and the brands separately, the lack

of an online community makes it impossible for the brands to strengthen relationships and increase social capital, as they are not gaining membership into the university community through Twitter.

Negative Sentiments on Twitter

RQ3 asked how the conversations relating to each brand are different. Within the 599 tweets collected that mentioned both the brand and the basketball team handle or related hashtag, most of the tweets expressed positive or neutral sentiments. The tweets that expressed positive sentiments often expressed a liking for the shoes or apparel including a tweet from a user named Lydia Knoll who tweeted "Both my teams killing it on the court... @IndianaMBB and @adidas" A second example of a positive tweet includes a reply tweet from 'BarryB' who was commenting on a post about an upcoming shoe release and said "@2Ballz1Strike @PlayStation @Nike @Yg Trece @DukeMBB I'm telling you bro I have to have these ASAP. I want to hoop in them soooooo bad." An example of a tweet that expressed a negative sentiment came from a user named Bradley Richardson who tweeted: "@Nike why do you have to ruin @MSU Basketball uniforms?" There were also tweets that did not express a positive or negative sentiment, but were more informational, an example of a neutral tweet came from a user named Alex Bozich who tweeted: "Indiana going with the adidas Ice uniforms today. #iubb" This finding contradicts previous research, where scholars found that users were more than three times more likely to express negative sentiments than to compliment the brands (Liu et al., 2017). However, compared to the other industries examined, sport footwear brands had the highest number of positive and neutral tweets although still had an industry average of 40% negative tweets (Liu et al., 2017). The current study found

that in general, tweets that discussed the brand in conjunction with the basketball team contained more positive and neutral tweets overall.

The tweets that expressed negative sentiment only appeared in two of the categories, *uniforms* and *scandal*. However, there were also tweets about uniforms that were positive sentiments where users were complementing the uniforms of their respective teams. The *scandal* category also had tweets that expressed negative sentiments about the brand. There were negative tweets regarding adidas that were focused on the current FBI investigation about a broad conspiracy where student-athletes were compensated in order to commit to a certain university (Rapaport, 2017). An example of a tweet that expressed negative sentiment regarding the investigation came from user Brad Turner "@Big12Conference @KUHoops Is Newman one of the players ADIDAS helped KU land, you know, paid him to attend KU? This tweet highlighted the negative connection between adidas and Kansas, but as this scandal is still developing it is difficult to determine what effect the scandal will have on people's opinions towards adidas in the future.

There were also tweets that expressed negative sentiment in the *scandal* category, regarding the recent MSU sexual harassment scandal concerning team doctor Larry Nasser (Dator, 2018). These tweets discussed the complaint of a survivor who encouraged Nike to drop its sponsorship of MSU in response to sexual harassment conviction. These tweets, while not directly negative in nature, do bring association to Nike with the sexual harassment scandal. However, the sample later included tweets that supported the fact that Nike listened to a survivor's complaint about the brand's association with MSU including a tweet from Catherine who posted "Thank you for

listening, @Nike. After today's @espn coverage of @MSU_Football @MSU_Basketball's assault coverups, its clear the culture problem runs deep and that reputation, big wins and money are @MSU_Athletics #1 priority." From this example, it is possible for the brand to make a positive spin on a negative association and distance themselves from scandal. Given these examples, there is an opportunity for brands to encourage more positive sentiment on Twitter. This is an additional motivation for brands to focus on using social media to connect to fans of collegiate basketball, as the discussion is more positive than the reported tweets about the brands from in previous literature.

What are the Brands Paying for?

As previously mentioned, apparel companies give university athletic programs athletic gear worth tens of millions of dollars in retail value, in addition to tens of millions in cash considerations (Schwerman, 2017). These multi-million-dollar contracts give the brands exposure during nationally televised contests, and merchandising opportunities in which big-name schools sell a large amount of product to their fan bases (Butler-Young, 2016). In 2012, the Collegiate Licensing Company estimated there had been \$4.62 billion in retail sales of collegiate licensed merchandise, selling more apparel and gear than every major American sports league other than Major League Baseball. The NCAA men's basketball tournament accounts for ten million dollars in retail sales on its own (Greenberg, 2013). Therefore, it is clear that there is a huge market for sporting apparel amongst fans of college basketball. From the amount of revenue generated on collegiate licensed retail sales, it can be inferred that brands are primarily paying university athletic departments for the potential merchandising opportunities.

The content of Nike-affiliated tweets found that only 15% of tweets dealt specifically with merchandise and adidas was even less with only 4% of the collected tweets. Under Armour had 100% of its collected tweets reference merchandise, but with only two total tweets the sample is too small to say that Under Armour is only concerned with increasing merchandising opportunities via Twitter. There was a stronger correlation between the content of the tweets that mentioned Nike and adidas than with Under Armour, demonstrating that there was a stronger relationship between how people talked about Nike and how people tweeted about adidas than how people tweeted with Under Armour. As previously mentioned, there were no produced tweets directly by the brands Twitter handle, in the sample that also mentioned the basketball team handle or associated hashtag. There is an opportunity for brands to promote team specific merchandise via Twitter. Previous literature found that online social networks create an opportunity for professional athletes to endorse a variety of products and by sprinkling the promotional messages amongst the athlete's personal messages will make the advertising more genuine (Hambrick & Mahoney, 2011; Pegoraro & Jinnah, 2012). It is possible for brands to use that same manner where they incorporate more direct marketing posts that are targeted at a specific fan base.

These brands' main Twitter focus is in advertising products, and featuring celebrity endorsers, so there is less availability to intersperse promotional posts because so many of their posts are already focused on promoting products. However, sprinkling targeted messages about specific collegiate teams may be an effective strategy and seem more genuine especially during championship events like the NCAA tournament. If brands are already making their investment back and increasing their net profit through

the sale of collegiate licensed apparel it is possible that they do not see the point of increasing attention to Twitter and other social media for additional marketing purposes. However, with the large number of users on Twitter and other social media platforms it is an outlet that these brands should not ignore because there is an opportunity to disseminate information to a large population for a low cost.

In conclusion, sport apparel brands benefit from their connection to university athletic department and college basketball. Although the scandals at Michigan State and some adidas universities have brought negative media attention to collegiate athletics, it is not possible to determine if these scandals will affect the relationships the brands have with universities, the brands ability to attract new consumers, or the profitability of each brand. However, the brands do not appear to be attempting to grow or strengthen that connection through the use of social media, and fans of those collegiate basketball teams do not appear to be motivated to engage in discussion about the brands. Therefore, the brands are not gaining social capital through their association with the basketball teams in the online Twitter environment. However, with the large merchandise sales, it is possible that the brands are not concerned with building social capital online because they are already gaining entrance into the community by other means. In addition, if the brands' goals are to increase merchandising they may already have the most effective marketing strategy that does not include Twitter and other social media platforms.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

The limitations of this study include that the schedules of the selected basketball teams did not allow for each team to play an even number of games, with ND only having three games while all of the other teams participating in four games. While this is

a limitation, the discussion that takes place while games are not happening is just as important as the discussion that happens during games because the brands are attempting to build a relationship with the community as a whole and not just during athletic contests. Additional limitations included the selection of teams which required equal distribution of teams from all three brands, as Nike affiliated schools had a distinct advantage in championship history and recent success. In addition, each basketball team did not all have a basketball team specific hashtag, which gave the Under Armour two fewer queries and adidas one fewer query compared to Nike. An additional limitation of this study is that the users who mentioned the brands in conjunction with the basketball team are assumed to be fans of either the team or the brand. However, some of the people who tweeted included journalists such as Alex Bozich and adidas campus agent Lydia Knoll, therefore it is difficult to know whether the individual Twitter users can be described as fans or if they are promoting professional interests.

The current study determined that Twitter users do use the hashtags of sport apparel brands but not when combined with collegiate basketball handles or hashtags. Future research could include examining the motivations for why people utilize brand hashtags. In addition, this study found that some hashtags were used with greater frequency than others, future research could examine what makes a hashtag successful. More research could determine the relationship between sport businesses and social capital specifically to decide if social capital can be built in an online environment. The current study found that the brands are not building an online relationship with fans of collegiate basketball teams, but more research could be completed to determine if the

brands are more successful with building online ties with fans of other collegiate or professional sports teams.

REFERENCES

- Allbrackets.com (2017) Men's NCAA basketball tournament bracket history. *All Brackets*. Retrieved from: http://www.allbrackets.com
- Barker, J. (2017, Sept 8). Under Armour launching #WEWILL campaign aimed at aiding city. *The Baltimore Sun*. Retrieved from:

 http://www.baltimoresun.com/business/under-armour-blog/bs-bz-under-armour-baltimore-20170908-story.html
- BigTen (2017). Championship archives. *BigTen.org*. http://www.bigten.org/championships/2016-schedule.html
- Billings, A. C., Burch L. M., & Zimmerman, M. H. (2015). Fragments of us, fragments of them: Social media, nationality and US perceptions of the 2014 FIFA World Cup. *Soccer & Society*, *16*(5-6), 726-744.
- Blaszka, M., Burch, L. M., Frederick, E. L., Clavio, G., & Walsh, P. (2012).

 #WorldSeries: An empirical examination of a Twitter hashtag during a major sporting event. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 5(4), 435-453.
- Brison, N. T., Byon, K. K., & Baker III, T. A. (2016). To tweet or not to tweet: the effects of social media endorsements on unfamiliar sport brands and athlete endorsers. *Innovation: Management, Policy & Practice*, 18(3), 309-326.
- Boone, K (2017, Mar 7) Look: adidas unveils its March Madness postseason uniform collections. CBSSports. Retrieved from: https://www.cbssports.com/college -basketball/news/look-adidas-unveils-its-march-madness-postseason-uniform collection

- Bourdieu, P. 1986. The forms of capital. In J. G. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of theory* and research for the sociology of education: 241-258. New York: Greenwood.
- Butler-Young, S. (2016, Jan 20). 3 reasons brands are battling to sponsor college sports

 Teams. *Footwear News*. Retrieved from:

 http://footwearnews.com/2016/focus/athletic-outdoor/reasons-brands-sponsor

 college-sports-teams-nike-under-armour-adidas-185733/
- Chang, Y. P., & Zhu, D. H. (2012). "The Role of Perceived Social Capital and Flow Experience in Building Users' Continuance Intention to Social Networking Sites in China." *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28 (3): 995–1001.
- Chiari, M. (2017). Louisville, adidas reportedly agree to 10-year, \$160 million apparel contract. *Bleacher Report*. Retrieved from:

 http://bleacherreport.com/articles/2729458-louisville-adidas-reportedly-agree-to-10-year-160-million-apparel-contract
- Chiusano, A. (2017, Apr 1). UConn women's basketball: The huskies' record winning streak ends at 111 games. *NCAA*. Retrieved from:

 http://www.ncaa.com/news/basketball-women/article/2017-03-31/uconn-womens basketball-huskies-record-winning-streak-ends
- Clavio, G. (2011). Social media and the college football audience. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 4, 309–325.
- Clavio, G., & Kian, T. M. (2010). Uses and gratifications of a retired female athlete's Twitter followers. *International Journal Of Sport Communication*, 3(4), 485-500.
- Coaches Database. (2017) Miami (FL) Hurricanes basketball history. *Coaches Database*Retrieved from: http://www.coachesdatabase.com/miami-hurricanes-basketball/

- Coche, R. (2014). How golfers and tennis players frame themselves: A content analysis of Twitter profile pictures. *Journal Of Sports Media*, 95.
- Cohen, N. (2009) When stars Twitter, a ghost may be lurking. New York Times.

 Retrieved from—http://www.nytimes.com/2009/03/27/technology/internet/

 27twitter.html
- Coleman. J. S. 1988, Social capital in the creation of human capital, *American Journal of Sociology*. 94: S95-S120.
- Dator, J (2018, 5 Feb). A Comprehensive timeline of the Larry Nassar case. *SBNation*.

 Retrieved from: https://www.sbnation.com/2018/1/19/16900674/larry-nassar
 -abuse-timeline-usa-gymnastics-michigan-state
- Delia, E. B., & Armstrong, C. G. (2015). #Sponsoring the #FrenchOpen: An examination of social media buzz and sentiment. Journal of Sport Management, 29(2), 184 199.
- DiNucci, D. (1999). Fragmented future. Print, 53(4), 32.
- Do, H., Ko, E., & Woodside, A. (2015). Tiger Woods, Nike, and I are (not) best friends:

 How brand's sports sponsorship in social-media impacts brand consumer's congruity and relationship quality. *International Journal of Advertising*, *34*(4), 658-677.
- Efron, M. (2011). "Information search and retrieval in microblogs" Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 62(6):996–1008
- Ellison, N. B., C. Steinfield, and C. Lampe. 2007. "The benefits of Facebook "friends:"

 Social capital and college students' use of online social network sites."

 Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication 12 (4): 1143–1168.

- Eun Sook, K., & Yongjun, S. (2011). Follow me! Global marketers' Twitter use. *Journal* of Interactive Advertising, 12(1), 4-16.
- Frederick, E, Lim C. H., Clavio, G., Pedersen, P. M., & Burch, L. M. (2014). Choosing between the one-way or two-way street: An exploration of relationship promotion by professional athletes on Twitter. *Communication and Sport, 2(1)*, 80-99.
- Frederick, E.L., Lim, C.H., Clavio, G., & Walsh, P. (2012). Why we follow: An examination of parasocial interaction and fan motivations for following athlete archetypes on Twitter. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, *5*, 481-502.
- Geoff, N., Richard, T., & Alison, M. (2013). Sports clubs' volunteers: Bonding in or bridging out? *Sociology*, (2), 350.
- Gianatasio, D. (2013, July 2). Nike's "just do it," the last great advertising slogan turns 25. *Adweek*. Retrieved from: http://www.adweek.com/creativity/happy-25th -birthday-nikes-just-do-it-last-great-advertising-slogan-150947
- Goldberg, R. (2017) South Carolina wins 1st ever NCAA women's championship over Mississippi St. *Bleacher Report*. Retrieved from:

 http://bleacherreport.com/articles/2701409-south-carolina-wins-1st-ncaa-womens-championship-over-mississippi-st
- Gravetter, F. J., & Wallnau, L.B. (2015) Statistics for the behavioral sciences (10th Ed.).

 Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.

- Greenberg, K. (2013, Apr 8). Big growth in college sports merchandising. *Marketing Daily*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.mediapost.com/publications/article/197323/big-growth-in-college
 -sports-merchandising.html
- Hambrick, M. E., & Mahoney, T. Q. (2011). 'It's incredible trust me': Exploring the role of celebrity athletes as marketers in online social networks. *International Journal Of Sport Management & Marketing*, 10(3/4), 161-179.
- Hambrick, M., & Pegoraro, A. (2014). Social Sochi: Using social network analysis to investigate electronic word-of-mouth transmitted through social media communities. *International Journal of Sport Management and Marketing*, 15(3-4), 120-140.
- Hambrick, M. E., Simmons, J. M., Greenhalgh, G. P., & Greenwell, T. C. (2010).

 Understanding professional athletes' use of Twitter: A content analysis of athlete tweets. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, *3*(4), 454-471.
- Hennessey, R. (2016, Sep 12). Your hashtag and your brand go hand in hand.

 Entrepreneur. Retrieved from: https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/282109
- Hobson, W. & Rich, S. (2015, Nov 23). Playing in the red. *The Washington Post*.

 Retrieved from:
 - http://www.washingtonpost.com/sf/sports/wp/2015/11/23/running-up-thebills/?utm_term=.093aa1c47aae
- Holt, D. (2016). Branding in the age of social media. *Harvard Business Review*, 94(3), 40-50.

- Jarvie, G. (2003). Communitarianism, sport and social capital: neighbourly insights into Scottish sport. *International Review for The Sociology of Sport*, 38(2), 139-153.
- Jensen, J. A., Ervin, S. M., & Dittmore, S. W. (2014). Exploring the factors affecting popularity in social media: A case study of Football Bowl Subdivision head coaches. *International Journal Of Sport Communication*, 7(2), 261-278.
- Jun, J., Kim, J., & Tang, L. (2017). Does social capital matter on social media? An examination into negative e-WOM toward competing brands. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(4), 378-394.
- Kassing, J. W., & Sanderson, J. (2010). Fan-athlete interaction and Twitter tweeting through the Giro: A case study. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 3, 113-126.
- Kim, E., Sung, Y., & Kang, H. (2014). Brand followers' retweeting behavior on Twitter:

 How brand relationships influence brand electronic word-of-mouth. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 3718-25.
- Kwak, H., Lee, C, Park, H., & Moon, S. (2010). What is Twitter—A social network or a news media? In *WWW 2010*. Retrieved from http://www.ambuehler.ethz.ch/CDstore/www2010/www/p591.pdf
- La Monica, P.R. (2017, Sept 19). Slam dunk for adidas as sales top Nike's Jordan line.

 CNN Money. Retrieved from: http://money.cnn.com/2017/09/19/investing/adidas-nike-under-armour-sneakers/index.html
- Lebel, K., & Danylchuk, K. (2012). How tweet it is: A gendered analysis of professional tennis players' self-presentation on Twitter. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 5, 461-480.

- Lee, C., & Kahle, L. (2016). The linguistics of social media: Communication of emotions and values in sport. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, 25(4), 201-211.
- Lin, K., & Lu, H. (2011). Intention to continue using Facebook fan pages from the perspective of social capital theory. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior & Social Networking*, 14(10), 565-570.
- Litman, L. (2017, Mar 13) Charting Notre Dame's path to a third consecutive Elite Eight.

 *IndyStar**. Retrieved from: https://www.indystar.com/story/sports/college/notre-dame/2017/03/13/charting-notre-dames-path-third-consecutive-elite-eight/99118562/
- Liu, X., Burns, A. C., & Hou, Y. (2017). An investigation of brand-related user generated content on Twitter. *Journal of Advertising*, 46(2), 236-247.
- Morgan, R. (2017, Sept 27). Nike sales sag as adidas continues to soar. *New York Post*.

 Retrieved from: http://nypost.com/2017/09/27/nike-sales-sag-as-adidas-continues-to-soar/
- Munzenrieder, K. (2015, Jan 5) After 27 years with Nike, Miami Hurricanes switching to adidas. *Miami New Times*. Retrieved from:

 http://www.miaminewtimes.com/news/after-27-years-with-nike-miami hurricanes-switching-to-adidas-6539212
- Nahapiet, J., & Ghoshal, S. (1998). Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage. *Academy of Management Review*, 23(2), 242-266.
- Nan, C., Kim, Y. D., & Kwon, W. (2016). Effects of social media on generation Y consumers' brand knowledge of eco-friendly outdoor sportswear. *International Journal of Applied Sports Sciences*, 28(2), 235-245

- Ovadia, S. (2009). Exploring the potential of Twitter as a research tool. *Behavioral & Social Sciences Librarian*, 28(4), 202-205.
- Parganas, P., Anagnostopoulos, C., & Chadwick, S. (2015). 'You'll never tweet alone':

 Managing sports brands through social media. *Journal of Brand Management*,

 22(7), 551-568.
- Parganas, P., Anagnostopoulos, C., & Chadwick, S. (2017). Effects of social media interactions on brand associations. *International Journal of Sports Marketing & Sponsorship*, 18(2), 149-165.
- Pegoraro, A. (2010). Look who's talking--Athletes on Twitter: A case study.

 International Journal of Sport Communication, 2, 501-514.
- Pegoraro, A., & Jinnah, N. (2012). Tweet'em and reap'em: The impact of professional athletes' use of Twitter on current and potential sponsorship opportunities.

 **Journal of Brand Strategy, 1(1), 85-97.
- Pendergast, S. (2016, Apr 26) As viewers move away from cable to watch live sports, watch the dominoes fall. Houston Press. Retrieved from:

 http://www.houstonpress.com/news/as-viewers-move-away-from-cable-to-watch-live-sports-watch-the-dominoes-fall-8352539
- Perez, L. (2013). What drives the number of new Twitter followers? An economic note and a case study of professional soccer teams. *Economic Bulletin*, *33*, 1941–1947.
- Perks, T. (2007). Does sport foster social capital? The contribution of sport to a lifestyle of community participation. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 24(4), 378 401.

- Phua, J. (2012). Use of social networking sites by sports fans: Implications for the creation and maintenance of social capital. *Journal of Sports Media*, 109.
- Quan-Haase, A., & Wellman, B. (2004). How does the internet affect social capital? In
 M. Huysman & V. Wulf (Eds.), Social Capital and Information Technology (pp. 113–135). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Rapaport, D. (2017, Nov 17) What we know about each school implicated in the FBI's college basketball investigation. *Sports Illustrated*. Retrieved from: https://www.si.com/college-basketball/2017/09/29/what-we-know-about-each-school-fbi-investigation
- Roberts, D. (2017, June 23) adidas has nearly doubled its US sneaker market share at Nikes' expense. *Yahoo Finance*. Retrieved from:

 https://finance.yahoo.com/news/adidas-nearly-doubled-us-sneaker-market-share
 -nikes-expense-153106743.html
- Rutherford, M. (2017, Mar 26) How South Carolina basketball became the talk of the NCAA tournament. *SBNation*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.sbnation.com/college-basketball/2017/3/26/15067102/south
 carolina-basketball-2017-final-four-frank-martin
- Sajuria, J., vanHeerde-Hudson, J., Hudson, D., Dasandi, N., & Theocharis, Y. (2015).

 Tweeting alone? An analysis of bridging and bonding social capital in online networks. *American Politics Research*, 43(4), 708-738.
- Sanderson, J. (2011). To tweet or not to tweet: Exploring division I athletic departments' social-media policies. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, *4*, 492-513.

- Schwerman, K. (2017, Feb 14). Nike still dominates college athletics apparel landscape. *Watch Stadium*. Retrieved from: https://watchstadium.com/news/nike dominates-college-athletics-apparel-landscape-02-14-2017/
- SECSports (2017) Men's basketball SEC champions. *Secsports.com*. Retrieved from: http://www.secsports.com/article/12878811/men-basketball-sec-champions
- Smith, L. R., & Smith, K. D. (2012). Identity in Twitter's hashtag culture: A sport media consumption case study. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 5(4), 539-557
- Spaaij, R., & Westerbeek, H. (2010). Sport business and social capital: a contradiction in terms? *Sport in Society*, *13*(9), 1356-1373
- Statista. (2018). Number of monthly active Twitter users worldwide from 1st quarter 2010 to 4th quarter 2017 (in millions). *Statista*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.statista.com/statistics/282087/number-of-monthly-active-twitter users/
- Sukjoon, Y., Petrick, J. F., & Backman, S. J. (2017). Twitter power and sport-fan loyalty: The moderating effects of Twitter. *International Journal Of Sport Communication*, 10(2), 153-177.
- Sutherlin, M. (2016, May 5) Top 5 Under Armour ad campaigns. *FootWear News*.

 Retrieved from: http://footwearnews.com/2016/business/marketing/top-5-under armour-ad-campaigns-misty-copeland-stephen-curry-michael-phelps-217962/
- Thomas, L. (2017, Oct 31). Under Armour slashes full-year outlook, sending shares tumbling. *CNBC*. Retrieved from: https://www.cnbc.com/2017/10/31/under armour-q3-earnings-2017.html

- Tracy, M. (2015, Aug 25) Under Armour seeks to do for Maryland what Nike did for Oregon. New York Times. Retrieved from:
 https://www.nytimes.com/2015/08/26/sports/ncaafootball/under-armour-seeks-to do-for-maryland-what-nike-did-for-oregon.html
- Tracy, M. (2017, Sept 26). NCAA coaches, adidas executive face charges; Pitino's program implicated. *New York Times* Retrieved from: https://www.nytimes.com/2017/09/26/sports/ncaa-adidas-bribery.html
- Twitter. (2018). Company—about. Retrieved from https://about.twitter.com/company
- Walsh, P., Clavio, G., Lovell, M. D., & Blaszka, M. (2013). Differences in event brand personality between social media users and non-users. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, 22(4), 214-223.
- Watanabe, N., Yan, G., & Soebbing, B. P. (2015). Major League Baseball and Twitter usage: The economics of social media use. *Journal of Sport Management*, 29(6), 619-632.
- Watkins, B., & Lee, J. W. (2016). Communicating brand identity on social media: A case study of the use of Instagram and Twitter for collegiate athletic branding.

 International Journal of Sport Communication, 9(4), 476-498.
- Wharton, D. (2016, May 24). UCLA's Under Armour deal for \$280 million is the biggest in NCAA history. *Los Angeles Times*. Retrieved from:

 http://www.latimes.com/sports/ucla/la-sp-0525-ucla-under-armour-20160525
 snap-story.html

- Widdop, P., Cutts, D., & Jarvie, G. (2016). Omnivorousness in sport: The importance of social capital and networks. *International Review for The Sociology of Sport*, 51(5), 596-616.
- Williams, G. L. (2017, May 24). Once again, Christian Dior, Nike & Inditex top world's largest apparel companies. *Forbes*. Retrieved from:

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/gracelwilliams/2017/05/24/the-worlds-largest apparel-companies-are-still-christian-dior-nike-inditex
- Yang, L., Sun, T., Zhang, M., & Mei, Q. (2012, April). We know what @you #tag: Does the dual role affect hashtag adoption? Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 21st international Conference on the World Wide Web, New York. Retrieved from: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/3050/ac83859cd059b28d63db1e93a00fffd 8b29.pdf